TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

For the Year Ended December 31, 2007



TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Government-Wide Financial Statements
Statement of Net Assets
Statement of Activities
Fund Financial Statements
Governmental Funds
Balance Sheet

Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balances to
Net Assets of Governmental Activities

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes
in Fund Balances

Reconciliation of Governmental Funds Statement of
Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
to the Statement of Activities

Proprietary Funds

Combined Statement of Net Assets (Deficit)

Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in

Net Assets (Deficit)

Combined Statement of Cash Flows

16

17

18

19

21

22

23

24



TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

TABLE OF CONTENTS, continued

Fiduciary Funds

Combined Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets

Combined Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets

Notes to the Basie Financial Statements

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Budgetary Comparison Statement

Notes to the Required Supplementary Information
Notes to the Budgetary Comparison Statement — General Fund

Trend Data on Infrastructure Condition

Pension Plan Funding Progress

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Combining Balance Sheet — Other Governmental Funds

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balances — Other Governmental Funds

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance
and other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed

in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

59

60

61

62

64

65

66



STANLEY N 7. 11C

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
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MEMBER OF AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CPA’S AND PENMNSYLVANIA INSTITUTE OF CPA'S

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Board of Supervisors
TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
Yardley, Pennsylvania

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities,
the business-type activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD, Yardley, Pennsylvania, as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2007, which collectively comprise the TOWNSHIP
OF LOWER MAKEFIELD’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the TOWNSHIP OF LOWER
MAKEFIELD’s management. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the
TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD, as of December 31, 2007, and the respective
changes in financial position thereof for the year then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.



In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated
June 23, 2008, on our consideration of the TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD’s
internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing and not to provide an
opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is
an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards
and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit.

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis and budgetary comparison information,
trend data on infrastructure condition and pension plan funding progress on pages 3
through 15 and pages 59 through 63, respectively, are not a required part of the basic
financial statements but are supplementary information required by accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. We have applied certain limited
procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the
methods of measurement and presentation of the required supplementary information.
However, we did not audit the information and express no opinion on it.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements
that collectively comprise the TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD s basic financial
statements. The combining statements listed on the foregoing table of contents are
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic
financial statements. The combining nonmajor fund financial statements have been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements

and, in our opinion, are fairly stated in all material respects, in relation to the financial
statements taken as a whole.

June 23, 2008 STANLEY N. BOOZ, LLC
Certified Public Accountanis
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Our discussion and analysis of the Township of Lower Makefield’s financial performance provides an
overview of the Township’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007. Please read it in
conjunction with the Township’s financial statements, which begin with the Statement of Net Assets.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

® Makefield Highlands Golf Course completed its third full year of operations since opening on
July 1, 2004. Income before depreciation was $362,317 for the year. Response to the Course
has been extremely favorable and in 2007, despite early season weather issues, total revenue
exceeded budget despite the number of rounds played falling below budget. This is indicative
of the alternative sources of revenue that the course is developing, most notably the driving
range and the food and beverage area.

® The assets of the Township exceeded its liabilities by $86,260,570 up $806,022 from last year.

® The General Fund balance remains above the “Safe Harbor” range, which is 5-8% of General
Fund revenues.

® The development of Memorial Park, the site of the 9-11 memorial, was completed during the
year, and to date a total of $1,464,235 was spent and capitalized on the project.

® Sewer rates and revenues remained stable in 2007. The lease with the Sewer Authority was
extended in August of 2006, for a term of 25 years, or through December, 2031.

® During fiscal year 2007, Lower Makefield Township contracted with the firm of Howard
Woods and Associate, to explore the possibility of selling the township owned and operated
sewer system. Howard Woods and Associates explored the feasibility of just such a sale by
initiating contact with potential buyers and preparing a comprehensive Request for Proposal,
RFP. At the time of this audit report, Lower Makefield Township was entertaining an offer
from a qualified provider, to sell the sewer system during the 2008 fiscal/calendar year.

® The Township owned Pool operations had record revenue and membership in 2007 with
revenues of $773,000, an increase of 2.4% over prior year. Membership fees in 2008, for the
11™ consecutive year, remain flat with no increases in the fee schedule. A major renovation is
planned to begin at the pool at the close of the 2008 season and will total approximately $1.5
million.



TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Township’s annual financial report consists of several sections. Taken together, they provide a
comprehensive financial look at the township. The components of the report include the Independent
Auditors’ Report, Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Governmeni-Wide Financial Statements, Fund
Financial Statements and Notes to the Basic Financial Statements. This report also contains other Required
and Supplementary Information in addition to the basic financial statements.

The Independent Auditors” Report briefly describes the audit engagement and also renders an opinion as to the
material components of the Township’s financial position.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), prepared by Township management, provides a narrative
introduction and overview that users of the financial statements need to interpret the basic financial
statements. The MD&A also provides analysis of some key data that is presented in the basic financial
statements. It also addresses any other currently known facts, decisions, or conditions that are expected to
have a significant effect on financial position or results of operations.

The basic financial statements include the Statement of Net Assets, Statement of Activities, Fund Financial
Statements and Notes to the Basic Financial Statements. Statements of Net Assets and Activities focus on
entity-wide presentation using the accrual basis of accounting. They are designed to be more corporate-like in
that all activities are consolidated into a total for the Township.

® The Statement of Net Assets focuses on resources available for future operations. This
statement presents a snapshot view of the assets the Township owns, the liabilities it owes and
the net difference.

® The Statement of Activities focuses on gross and net costs of Township programs and the
extent to which such programs rely upon taxes and other revenue. This statement summarizes
and simplifies the user’s analysis to determine the extent to which programs are self supporting
and/or subsidized by other sources.

® Fund Financial Statements focus separately on major Governmental Funds, Proprietary Funds
and Fiduciary Funds. Governmental Funds statements follow the more traditional presentation
of financial statements. The Township’s major Governmental Funds are presented in their own
columns, and the remaining funds are combined into a column “Other Governmental Funds.”
Statements for the Township’s Proprietary and Fiduciary Funds follow the Governmental
Funds and include net assets, revenues, expenses and changes in net assets and cash flows. The
Proprietary Funds represent the Township’s Sewer, Pool, and Golf Funds and can be found in
more detail beginning with the Statement of Net Assets, Proprietary Funds. Fiduciary Funds
are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the government.
Fiduciary Funds are not reflected in the government-wide statements because the Township
cannot use these assets to finance its operations.



TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007
° The notes to the Basic Financial Statements provide additional disclosures required by
governmental accounting standards and provide information to assist the reader in

understanding the Township’s financial condition.

Other Required Supplementary Information (RSI) is additional information consisting of budgetary
comparisons for the General Fund and trends data on infrastructure condition. :

REPORTING THE TOWNSHIP AS A WHOLE

Statement of Net Assets and Statement of Activities

Our analysis of the Township as a whole begins with the Statement of Net Assets. One of the most important
questions asked about the Township’s finances is “What is the Township’s overall financial condition as
compared to the previous year?” The Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Activities report
information about the Township as a whole and about its activities in a way that helps answer this question. In
these statements, we divide the Township into two kinds of activities:

e Governmental Activities — Most of the Township’s basic services are reported here,
including police, public works, planning and zoning, library, parks and recreation, and
administration. Real estate and business taxes, fees and charges and grants finance most of
these activities.

o Business-Type Activities — The Township charges a fee to customers to help it cover most
of the cost of certain services it provides. The Township’s sewer system, pool and golf
course are reported here.

The analysis below focuses on the net assets and changes in net assets of the Township’s governmental and
business type activities.



TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

MNET ASSETS
Governmental Business-Type Totai
Activities Activities Government

Assets 2007 2008 2007 2006 2007 20086
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 6,811,233 $ 8,069,928 $ 3914520 $ 5,505,727 $ 10525753 $ 13,575,655
QOther Assets 840,251 909,442 1,425,134 1,381,798 2,316,385 2,291,238
Capital Assets 80,155,488 79,571,156 36,552,010 36,149,544 116,707,498 115,720,700

Total Assels $ 87,6568972 $ 88,550,526 $41,891,664 $ 43,037,087 $ 120,548,636  § 131,587,593
Liabilities
Other Liabilities $ 1198691 $§ 1,935295 $ 868,253 § 1,234,296 $ 2066944 § 1,309,887
tong-Term Debt Outstanding 17,171,428 18,313,701 24,049,604 24,649,753 41,221,122 42,963,454

Total Liabilities 18,370,119 20,248,996 24,917,947 25,884,049 43,288,066 44,273,341
Net Assets
invested in Capital Assets 83,901,623 62,102,582 12,501,716 11,498,791 76,403,339 73,602,380
Restricted 5,382 418 5,649,168 5,382,418 5,649,168
Unrestricted 2,812 549,773 4,472,001 5,663,227 4,474,813 6,203,000

Total Net Assats 69,288 853 68,301,530 18,973,717 17,163,018 86,260,570 85,454,548

Total Liabilities and
Net Assets 3 87,656,972 § 88,550,526  $41,691,664 $ 43,037,067 $ 129,548,636  $ 131,587,593

Cash and cash equivalents represent 7.5% of the Township of Lower Makefield’s total governmental assets in
2007 and 9.2% in 2006. Cash and cash equivalents represent 9.3% in 2007 and 12.8% in 2006 of the
Township of Lower Makefield’s total business-type assets. While cash and cash equivalents remained
relatively steady within the governmental funds, the more significant upward change in the business-type
funds was caused mainly by additional bond issue from 2006 that relates to the sewer fund.

The largest portion of the Township’s governmental assets, 91.4%, reflects its investment in capital assets
(e.g., land, buildings, streets, recreation equipment.) In 2006 this portion was 90.6%. Because the Township
uses these capital assets to provide services to residents, these assets are not available for future spending.

Assets in the business-type activity column reflect the Township’s investment in its sewer system, community
pool and golf course. The Township operates and maintains 13 pump stations and approximately 230 miles of
sewer lines. The community pool consists of four swimming pools, a snack bar area and bathhouse. The golf

course is an 18-hole upscale affordable municipal course with practice facility, clubhouse, maintenance
building and historic manor house.



TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Revenues Govermental Activities Business-Type Activities Total Primary Government
Program Revenues 2007 2008 2005 2007 20086 2005 2007 2008 2005
Charges for Sefvices 1,138023 1,334,188 1.297.180 7876779 7712971 7753158 9,014,802 9047140 9050338
Operafing Grants and Confribuiions 2883436 1605898 3653691 52,861 12,079 2863436 1688759 3665770
Capital Granis and Contributions 18,867 878,797 28.429 9,945 85,185 105,450 28,812 963,982 133,879
General Revenues
Property Taxes 6,580,580 6427745  £526113 6,580,580 6427745 5596113
Real Estaie Transfer Tax 1.857.098  1,385826 1925166 1657,008 1385826 1925165
Per Capita Taxes 202,703 209,391 203,643 202,703 208,291 203,643
Public Utiity Taxes 11,961 12,638 11,360 11,981 12,638 11,360
Franchise Taxes 473,394 445438 434823 473,394 445,438 34,823
Investment Eamings 517,897 743576 461353 261,019 223,643 117.021 778916 967,219 578,374
Miscellaneous 363,751 137,764 95.045 88,186 451,937 137,754 95,045
Gain on Sale of Capiial Assets 122,086 208,200 51,035 00 122,086 209.200 51,935
Total Revenues 13849786 13390432 13757837 8236929 8074660 7983608 22185715 214658092 21746445
Expenses
Gensral Government 2428514 2412593 1532938 2128514 2412593 1532938
Fublic Safety 6318501 5511832 5950072 6,218,501 5511832 5959072
Public Works 2417718 1925678 2208563 2417718 1925678 2208563
Parks and Recreation 1,094,493 857619 1,021,083 1,094,493 857 619 1,021,083
Community Development 63,413 41,032 63413 41,032
Interest on .ong Ternm Debt 820,270 845,674 767.162 820,270 846,674 767,162
Sewer 4,496545 4,163,698 4,000,439 4496545 4163598 4000439
Community Pool 700,074 627,812 601,372 700.074 627812 601,372
Golf Course 3009907 3033998 2828038 3000907 3033998 2828038
Total Expenses 12842908 11596428 11488518 3206626 7826408 7429249 21049435 19420836 18918667
Excess/(Deficiency) Before
Transfers 1,106,877 1795004 2269019 29.403 249262 558,759 1136280 2044256 2827778
Transfers 208,704 198,768 120,696 (208,704}  (198.768)  {180,696)
Transfers-Other (330,258} {330,258}
Change in Net Assets 985323 1993772 2449715 {179,201) 50,484 373,063 806,022 2044256 2827778
Net Assets Beginning of the Year 68,301,530 68307,758 62,858043 17,163,018 17,102,524 16,724,471 85,454,548 83410202 80582514
Net Assets End of the Year 69,286,853 683015630 66307758 16973717  17153,018  17,102534 86,260,570 86,454,548 83,410,292




TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
MANAGEMENT"S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Total revenues exceed total expenses by $1,106.877 in 2007 and $1,795,004 in 2006 for governmental
activities. This indicates that the Township is operating at a level to meet its operating commitments. Total
revenues exceeded total expenses by $29,403 in 2007 for business type activities. In 2006, total revenues
exceeded total expenses by $249,252 for business-type activities. While the sewer and pool funds show a
positive change in net assets for 2007, the golf course fund shows a negative change in net assets caused by a
high level of depreciation expense.

Governmental Activities

The Township generates governmental revenues from a variety of sources. Total revenue for governmental
activities for fiscal 2007 was $13,949,786 and $13,390,432 in 2006. Revenue by source were as follows:

Amount % of Total

Revenue 2007 2006 2007 2006
Property Taxes Levied for General
Purposes 6,580,580 6,427,745 4717% 48.00%
Real Estate Transfer Tax 1,657,098 1,385,826 11.88% 10.35%
Per Capita Taxes 202,703 209,351 1.45% 1.56%
Public Utility Taxes 11,951 12,638 0.09% 0.09%
Franchise Taxes 473,394 445,438 3.39% 3.33%
Investment Earnings 517,897 743,576 3.71% 5.55%
Miscellaneous 363,751 137,754 2.61% 1.03%
Gain on Sale of Capital Assets 122,086 209,200 0.88% 1.56%
Charges for Services 1,138,023 1,334,169 8.16% 9.96%
Operating Grants and Contributions 2,882,303 2,484,695 20.66% 18.56%

13,949,786 13,390,432 100.00% 100.00%

As seen above, revenues were higher in 2007 than in 2006, and is primarily due to increases in our deed
transfer tax and operating grants/contributions. Operating grants and contributions were higher in 2007 due
primarily to several street project grants that were completed and whose revenue was recognized. These grants
were previously in the deferred liability section of the balance sheet. Also, the real estate transfer tax shows a
large increase for the current year and is due to recognition of a governmental accounting change where the
township is responsible for recognizing revenue if it is collected within 60 days of the close of the fiscal as it
is deemed available. This being the first year we have adopted this rule, fiscal 2007 has 13 payments for the
real estate transfer tax revenues whereas fiscal 2006 only has 12.

Investment income, which is comprised of bank interest on the five Township interest-bearing accounts,
trended downward in 2007 as interest rates decreased from a high of 6.01% during 2006 to a low of 4.45%
during 2007. Despite a volatile market, rates at the end of 2007 were in the 5% range.



TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

The Township’s governmental programs consist of various operating departments, among them police, public
works, planning and zoning, park and recreation and several administrative departments. Total expenditures
for fiscal 2007 were $12,842,909 and $11,595,428 in 2006. Expenditures by source were as follows:

Amount % of Total

Expenses 2007 2006 2007 2006
General Government 2,128,514 2,412,593 16.57% 20.81%
Public Safety 6,318,501 5,511,832 49.20% 47.53%
Highways and Streets 2,417,718 1,925,678 18.83% 16.61%
Culture and Recreation 1,094,493 857,619 8.52% 7.40%
Community Development 63,413 41,032 0.49% 0.35%
Interest on Long Term Debt 820,270 846,674 6.39% 7.30%

12,842,909 11,595,428 100.00% 100.00%
Total governmental expenditures increased approximately 5.8% from 2006 to 2007.

Business type activities include the Township’s Sewer System, Community Pool and Golf Course. Total
revenue from sewer activities for 2007 is $4,502,989 compared to $4,441,798 in 2006. Charges for services
account for approximately 90.1% of revenue in 2007. Expenditures to operate the system total $4,496,545 for
2007 and $4,163,598 for 2006. Total revenue from community pool activities is $772,643 for 2007 and
$754.712 for 2006. Charges for services account for 85.5% of revenue in 2007. Expenditures to operate the
pool total $700,074 for 2007 and $ 627,812 for 2006. Total revenue from golf course activities is $2,960,297
for 2007 and $ 2,878,150 for 2006. Charges for services account for approximately 98.3% of revenue in 2007.
Expenditures to operate the course total $3,009,907 in 2007 and $3,033,998 for 2006.

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

The General Fund had a deficiency of revenue over expenses for 2007 of $211,006 and a deficiency of
revenue over expenditures in 2006 of $144,788. An operating deficit of $970,511 had been anticipated and
while revenues trailed expenses by the figured mentioned, they exceeded their budget by $493,935. The
largest item responsible for this budget variance was taxes which came in $268,000 over budget, and the
primary reason was the real estate deed transfer tax, since 2007 has 13 payments reflected as opposed to 12
due to our change in recognition of this revenue, as directed by GASB. On the expenditure side, the township
came in $229.000 under budget in our highways and streets budget, caused by several factors, most notably a
decrease in weather related expenditures since the area experienced a mild winter. The remaining budget
variance is caused by a combination of factors affecting both revenue and expenditures.



TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

The Township had no budget adjustments during the 2007 fiscal year. It is the Township’s policy that unused
appropriations lapse at the close of the fiscal year. The Township does not “carry over” surpluses into the new
year and maintains budgetary control at the fund level.

As mentioned in the Financial Highlights section, the General Fund balance remains above the “Safe Harbor”
range.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

The Township of Lower Makefield’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type
activities as of December 31, 2007, total $116,707.498 and were $115,720,700 in 2006 (net of accumulated
depreciation). Township investment in capital assets includes land and land improvements, buildings and
building improvements, equipment, vehicles and infrastructure. Infrastructure includes roadways, bike paths,
curbing and sidewalks, storm sewers, basins, bridges and culverts, easements, streetlights and signs.

Additions to capital assets, land and improvements during 2007 include:

New Ford F450 Ambulance $ 129,356
Improvements to Patterson Farm 52,076
Improvements to Snipes Soccer Complex 56,416
Sewer Capital Infrastructure — The Canal

Interceptor Project 1,726,984
Capital Improvements to the Garden of Reflection 202,838
New Tractor for Sewer Basins 17,592
Police Crown Victoria 26,270
Police Crown Victoria 26,270
Chevy Tahoe Truck 42,591
Capital Improvements to Memorial Park 58.824
Infrastructure Improvements to Brock Creelk,

Creamery Road and Black Rock Road 492,344

10



Land

infrastructure

Construction in Progress
TOTAL CAPITAL ASSETS
NOT DEPRECIATED

L.and Improvements

Plant & Pools

Buildings & Tmprovements
Furniture & Equipment
Vehicles

Infrastructure

TOTAL CAPITAL ASSETS
DEPRECIATED

TOTALS

TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Capital Assets at Year End, Net of Depreciation

Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

Governmental Business-Type Total
Activities Activities Government

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
$ 18418249 $ 18418.249 $4,197.081 $ 4,197,081 $ 22615330 $ 22615330
48,993 649 48,995,649 48,995,649 48,995,649
2,383,408 4,532 4.532 2,383,408
67,413,898 69,797,306 4,201,613 4,197,081 71,615,511 73,994,387
4,843 464 1,634,259 7.907,927 8,116,387 12,751,391 9,750,646
21,307,225 20,465,553 21,307,225 20,465,553
5,060,772 5,191,380 2,355,279 2,676,110 7,416,051 7,867,490
379,901 522,612 779,966 694,413 1,159,867 1,217,025
1,553,139 1.590,755 1,553,139 1,590,755
904,314 834,844 904,314 834,844
12,741,590 9,773,850 32,350,397 31,952,463 45,091 987 41,726,313
$ 80155488 § 79,571,156 $ 36,552,010 $ 36,149,544 $ 116,707,498 $ 115,720,700

*Land is recorded at historical cost; market values are significantly higher.

Depreciable capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method. Useful lives are as follows:

Infrastructure

Land improvements
Plant and Pools

Building and building improvements
Furniture and equipment

Vehicles

Years

20

5-40
4-40

40

3-10

In the case of road, curb, sidewalk and bike path infrastructure, the Township has elected to use the modified
approach. Please see page 65 in the Required Supplementary Information section of the financial statements
for a more detailed description of the method. Additional information on the Township’s capital assets can be

found in Notes A and E in the financial statements.

Debt

At December 31, 2007, the Township had $40,300,955 in outstanding debt compared to $42,118,321 last year.

Of the outstanding debt at December 31, 2007, $1,907,035 is due within one year. The following shows a
breakdown of debt by type.

11



TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Qutstanding Debt at Year End (Net of Premiums, Discounts, and Amortization)

Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006

2007 2006
Govermental Activities
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2003 $6,535,680 $7,044.423
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2006 661,605 678,740
General Obligation Notes
Series A of 2001 1,179,000 1,740,000
Series B of 2001 4,655,000 4,655,000
Series of 2004 2,834,000 2,919,000
Notes Payable
PEMA 110,679 119,511
Bucks County
Land Purchase - -
Equipment Purchase - -
PNC Bank 274,598 311,894
16,250,562 17,468,568
Business Type Activities
General Obligation Bonds
Series of 2003 - -
Series of 2005 7,181,782 7,569,811
Series of 2006 8,362,611 8,573,942
General Obligation Notes
Series A of 2002 3,470,000 3,470,000
Series B of 2002 5,036,000 5,036,000
24,050,393 24,649,753
$40,300,955 $42,118,321

The Township had no new debt service issues in 2007. During 2007, Makefield Highlands Golf Course made

its 1% significant principal payment to their debt by paying $390,000 during the month of June.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES

Economic Factors

The Township of Lower Makefield services an area of 18 square miles and a population of 32,681 (2000 U.S.
Census). The Township is located in the southeastern portion of Bucks County, just across the river from
Trenton, New Jersey and 25 miles northeast of Philadelphia. Economically, the Township is largely
residential in nature, with some agricultural activity. Commercial development can be found on a limited
basis, most of which support the residential community. With the recent development of land into office
buildings, more employment opportunities can be found within the Township than in prior years.

12
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

The following shows the amount of total tax assessments broken down by type, and the source is from the

Bucks County Board of Assessments.

Type Assessment
Residential 474,779,850
Taxable Vacant/Miscellaneous 2,350,700
Government/School 32,760
Industrial - Not in a Park 484,760
Main Street - Commercial 167,920
Apartments 8,058,020
Motel - Hotel 1,027,200
Commercial 4,378,800
Mobile Home Parks -
Office Buildings - Not in a Park 18,966,880
Office Buildings - In a Park 51,040
Shopping Centers 5,233,360
Institutional 9,552,980
Utility -
Utility - Government 1,759,880
Exempt 18,633,880
TOTAL ASSESSMENTS 545 478,030

Development within the Township continues its downward trend; thus reducing 2007 developer related fees,
such as park and recreation fee-in-lieu fees, traffic impact fees and basin maintenance fees.

As shown in the data below, the Township of Lower Makefield is considerably wealthier than Bucks County
as a whole. Both Bucks County and the Township of Lower Makefield are substantially wealthier than the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and the nation. Several factors that create this wealth are the higher
educational levels of our residents and the Township’s ideal location for commuting to New York and
Philadelphia, where higher paying jobs can be found.

Lower
Makefield Bucks United
Township County Pennsylvania States
Per capita income $ 43,983 $ 27,430 $ 20,880 21.857
Median family income 106,908 68,727 49,184 50,046
Percentage of population
below poverty level 2. 7% 4.5% 11.0% 12.4%

Source: U.S. Census Bureau (2000 Census)



TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Next Year’s Budoet

The total millage for 2008 will be 14.87, a 15.5% increase over the 2007 millage of 12.87. This 2 millage
increase is entirely in the General Fund, increasing the millage here to 9.5 from 7.5.

Real estate transfer taxes are budgeted at $1,400,000, a slight decrease to last year’s budget number, but down
from the high point of $1,925,000 actually received in 2005. Also, as mentioned previously, due to recognition
of tax revenues according to GASB, the township recognized a 13™ payment in fiscal 2007, those real estate
transfer taxes received in early February for January transactions. According to GASB, if the revenues are
received within 60 days of the end of the fiscal year they are deemed available and we are to account for them.
So we recognized 13 payments in Fiscal 2007 and will recognize 12 going forward. This had an impact on the
General Fund budgetary analysis, as depicted in the required supplementary section of the financial
statements, found on page 59.

Interest income is budgeted at lower amounts in the 2008 budget due to the numerous interest rate reductions
planned or having already taken place in 2007. The recent action and planned action by the Federal Reserve
Bank to stimulate the economy indicates that the township may fall short of budget here, as there have been
several significant interest rate reductions in early 2008.

Contractual salaries for both the police and public works employees, along with all administrative staff will
receive increases of 4%.

As was done in 2007, the Liquid Fuels fund will help support the public works payroll in 2008. In 2007, over
$150,000 in salaries was covered by the Liquid Fuels entitlement, in 2008 this number will remain the same.
The Liquid Fuels fund also covers the related employer payroll taxes.

Overall health benefits in the 2007 budget showed a lesser increase in comparison to the last several years.
This was due to a change in the level of benefits for the Personal Choice medical plan and the Benefits
Concepts prescription plan that went into effect January 1, 2006. Also, several unplanned staff vacancies
allowed us to realize some savings in this area as well. Health care costs in 2008 are budgeted at a higher
level, reflecting an increase of approximately 10% from the 2007 actual results, as we are a community rated
client of Independence Blue Cross and this is the expected increased.

Pool membership fees are budgeted at $650,940 for 2008, a slight increase (3%) over the 2007 budget of
$631,820. The opening of two dual slides (one speed and one flume) at the pool in 2005 increased
membership dollars dramatically, however, the membership has stabilized hence the small budget increase in
2008. Total membership numbers from all categories was 2,099 in 2007 and 2,050 in 2006. As mentioned in
the earlier highlights, the pool complex will be undergoing a planned renovation at the end of the 2008 season,
with the project expected to cost between $1.5 and $2 million dollars. For the 11" consecutive year there were
no increases in the pool membership fee schedule, and this is expected to change for 2009.

Continual analysis and review is required by all department heads to ensure that departments operate within
their respective budgets.

14



TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors with a
general overview of the Township’s finances and to show the Township’s accountability for the monies it
receives and disburses. If you have any questions about this report or to request additional financial
information, please contact Brian McCloskey, Director of Finance, 1100 Edgewood Road, Yardley, PA
19067.

15



TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

DECEMBER 31, 2007

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activitigs Total
ASSETS
Cash 3 6,557,210 § 3914520 $ 10,471,730
Accounts receivable, net 700,965 1.246,068 1,947,033
Internal balances 123,806 (123,806}
Inventory 28,531 28,531
Prepaid expenses 15,642 630 16,272
Restricted assets
Escrow deposits 54,023 54,023
Deferred charges, net of amortization 49,838 273,713 323,551
Total 7,501,484 5,339,656 12,841,140
Capital assets:
Land 18,418,249 4,197,081 22,615,330
Construction in progress 4,532 4,532
Infrastructure 50,609,909 50,609,909
Land improvements 6,545,617 8,742,133 15,287,750
Plant and pools 39,089,557
Buildings and building improvements 7,502,823 2,855,977 10,358,800
Furniture and equipment 2,933,995 1,485,601 4,419,596
Vehicles 3,961,637 3,961,637
Accumulated depreciation {9,816,742) (19.822.871) {29,639.613)
Total capital assets 80,155,488 36,552,010 116,707,498
TOTAL ASSETS $ 87656972 § 41891666 § 129548638
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 5 304204 § 429769  § 743,973
Accrued expenses 450,059 311,868 761,927
Accrued interest 144,747 144,747
Member deposits 1,400 1,400
Deferred revenue 244258 116,618 360,876
Escrow deposits 54,023 54,023
Long-term liabilities
Due within one year 1,270,441 636,594 1,907,035
Due in more than one year 15,900,987 23,413,100 39,314,087
TOTAL LIABILITIES 18,370,119 24,917,949 43,288.068
NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 63,901,623 12,501,716 76,403,339
Restricted for
Capital projects 3,444,415 3,444,415
Debt service 2,583 2,583
Qther purposes 1,935,420 1,935,420
Unrestricted 2,812 4,472,001 4,474 813
TOTAL NET ASSETS 69,286,853 16,973,717 86,260,570
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 87636972 § 41891666 % 129,548,638

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

RECONCILIATION OF TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES
TONET ASSETS OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

DECEMBER 31, 2007

TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES $ 6,397,701

Amounts reported for governmental activities on the statement of net assets
are different because of the following:

Capital Assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported as assets in the governmental funds. The cost of the assets
is $89,972,230 and the accumulated depreciation is $9,816,742 80,155,488

Deferred charges for issuance of debt, net of amortization are recorded as
expenditures in the governmental funds. The Statement of Net Assets
includes these amounts as assets 49,839

Some liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore
are not reported as liabilities in the funds. Those liabilities consist of:

Accrued interest (144,747)

Bonds and notes payable, including premiums (16,250,561)

Accumulated compensated absences (920,867)
NET ASSETS OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES $ 69,286,853

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCES TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES - TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Capital outlays are reported in Governmental Funds as expenditures.
However, in the Statement of Activities, the cost of those assets are allocated
over their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense.

Expenditures for capital assets of $1,624,452 less current year
depreciation of $1,040,120

Proceeds from bonds are revenue and repayment of bond principal is an
expenditure in the Governmental Funds, but the proceeds increase long-
term liabilites, net of the repayment, in the Statement of Net Assets.
Also, Governmental Funds report the effect of premiums when debt is
issued, but these amounts are deferred and amortized in the Statement
of Activities

Compensated absences do not require the use of current financial resources and
therefore are not reported as expeditures in governmental funds

In the Governmental Funds, interest on long-term debt is reported as interest
expense when due, but in the Statement of Activities it is accrued

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

COMBINED STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS (DEFICIT)
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2007

Enterprise Funds Total
Community Golf Proprietary
Sewer Fund Pool Fund Course Fund Funds
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash 3 2,356,563 % 532,972 % 1,024,985 3,914,520
Accounts receivable 1,243,755 2,313 1,246,068
Interfund receivables 17,384 17,384
Inventory 28,531 28,531
Prepaid expenses 595 35 630
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 3,618,297 535,320 1,053,516 5,207,133
CAPITAL ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 37,345,521 3,181,685 15,847,675 56,374,881
Accumulated depreciation {16,088,163) (2,277,951 (1,456,757) {19,822,871)
21,257,358 903,734 14,390,918 36,552,010
OTHER ASSETS
Deferred charges, net of
accumulated amortization 128,479 145,234 273,713
TOTAL ASSETS $ 25004134 § 1,439,054 § 15,589,668 42,032,856
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 404,587 19,551 % 15,631 439,769
Accrued expense 238,275 10,984 62,609 311,868
Interfund payvables 31,130 42,457 67,603 141,190
Deferred revenue 17.408 59,210 116,618
Current portion of long-term debt 236,594 400,000 636,594
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 927,994 72,992 645,053 1,646,039
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES,
NET OF CURRENT PORTION
Bonds and notes payable 8,126,016 15,287,084 23,413,100
TOTAL LIABILITIES 9,054,010 72,992 15,932,137 25,059,139
NET ASSETS (DEFICIT)
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 12,816,142 903,623 {1,218,049) 12,501,716
Unrestricted 3,133,982 462,439 875,580 4,472,001
TOTAL NET ASSETS (DEFICIT) 15,950,124 1,366,062 (342,469) 16,973,717
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND
NET ASSETS (DEFICIT) $ 25,004,134 1,439,054 $ 15,589,668 42,032,856

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS (DEFICIT)
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

ENTERPRISE FUNDS Total
Community Golf Proprietary
Sewer Fund Pool Fund Course Fund Funds
OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services $ 4220638 3 739,714 % 2909.039 $§ 7,869,391
Miscellaneous 13,241 4,092 17,333
TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 4,233,879 743,806 2,909,039 7,886,724
OPERATING EXPENSES
Operations 3,506,659 607,523 1,960,249 6,074,431
Depreciation 500,035 92,551 411,927 1,004,513
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 4,006,694 700,074 2,372,176 7.078,944
OPERATING INCOME 227,185 43,732 536,863 807,780
NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Earnings on invesiments 181.670 28.837 51,258 261,765
Tapping fees 88,186 88,186
Interest expense (364,668) (626,777) (991.445)
Bond discount (1,534) (1,272) (2,806)
Amortization (5,506) {9,682) (15,188)
TOTAL NONOPERATING
REVENUES (EXPENSES) (101,852) 28,837 (586,473) {659,488)
INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE CONTRIBUTIONS
AND FUND TRANSFERS 125,333 72,569 (49,610) 148,292
CONTRIBUTIONS AND FUND TRANSFERS
Depreciation, net of related capital contributions (118,889) (118,889)
Transfers out (144,375) (64,329) {208,704
TOTAL CONTRIBUTIONS AND
FUND TRANSFERS (263,264) (64,329) (327,593)
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (137,931 8,240 (49,610) (179,301
TOTAL NET ASSETS (DEFICIT), BEGINNING 16,088,055 1,357,822 (292,859) 17,153,018

TOTAL NET ASSETS (DEFICIT), ENDING $ 15950124 $ 1,366,062 § 342,469y $ 16,973,717

See accompanying notes o the basic financial statements
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2007
Enterprise Funds Total
Community Golf Proprietary
Sewer Fund Pool Fund Course Fund Funds

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Cash received from customers $ 4,234,081 § 747,182 § 2909040 $ 7,890,303

Cash payments to suppliers (3,449.115) {225,864) (1,362,001) (5,036,980)

Cash payments to employees (315,445) (294,602) (716,907) {1,326,954)

Cash payments to other governments (21,063) (20,907) (96,675) (138,645)

Net cash provided by operating activities 448,458 205,809 733,457 1,387,724
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Advances to other funds (144,375 {64,329 {208,704)

Tapping fees 88,186 88,186

Net cash used in noncapital financing activities (56,189 (64,329 (120.518)
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Purchases of capital assets (1,511,367 (4,532 (9,969) (1,525,868)

Principal paid on long-term debt (212,865) (390,000) (602,865)

Interest paid on long-term debt (364,668) (626,777) {991,445)

Net cash used in capital and related financing activiiies (2,088,900} (4,532) (1,026,746) (3,120,178)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Earnings from investments 181,670 28,837 51,258 261,765

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,514,961) 165,785 {242.031) (1,591,207)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:

Beginning of year 3,871,524 367,187 1,267,016 5,505,727

End of year $ 2,356,563 § 532972 $§ 1,024985 §$§ 3,914520

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2007

Enterprise Funds Total
Community Golf Proprietary
Sewer Fund Pool Fund Course Fund Funds
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH
PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income $ 227185 % 43,732 $ 536,863 §% 807,780
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities
Depreciation 500,035 92,551 411,927 1,004,513
(Increase) decrease in
Accounts receivable 1,323 1,684 3,007
Interfund receivables {17,384) (17.384)
Inventory (13,751) (13,751)
Prepaid expenses (595) (3% 4,646 4,016
Increase (decrease) in
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (292.,490) 25,420 (113,432) (380,502)
Interfund payables 31,130 42,457 (108,002) (34,415)
Deferred revenue (746) 15,206 14,460
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ 448458 8§ 205809 $ 733,457 § 1,387,724
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES
Noncash investing and financing activities
Depreciation, net of related capital assets
contributed of $209,618 $ (118,889

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
25



TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

COMBINED STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Deferred  Unemployment
Pension Trust Funds Retirement Compensation Total
Police Non-Uniform Option Trust Agency Fiduciary
Pension Pension Plan Fund Fund Fund Funds
ASSETS
Cash $ 234717 % 226455 % $ 82881 3% 211,768 $§ 755,821
Investments 7,770,719 4,019,001 196,580 11,986,300
Accounts receivable 27,854 15,023 353 102,796 146,026
TOTAL ASSETS £,033,290 4,260,479 196,580 83,234 314,564 12,888,147
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 129,903 129,903
Due to developers 184,661 184,661
TOTAL LIABILITIES 314,564 314,564
NET ASSETS HELD IN TRUST
FOR PENSION BENEFITS
AND OTHER PURPOSES
{a schedule of funding in progress
for the plan is on page 62).  $8,033290 $4260479 § 196580 $ 83234 § $ 12,573,583

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

COMBINED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Deferred  Unemployment
Pension Trust Funds Retirement Compensation Total
Police Non-Uniform Option Trust Fiduciary
Pension Pension Plan Fund Fund Funds
ADDITIONS
Contributions
Employer $ 23397 $ 268812 § $ $ 292,209
Investment income 418,969 214,667 5,940 4,348 643,924
Transfers in
Police Pension Fund 84,622 84,622
State aid 330,258 330,258
TOTAL ADDITIONS 772,624 483,479 90,562 4,348 1,351,013
DEDUCTIONS
Administrative expenses 73,710 31,747 105,457
Benefits 260,180 98,502 358,682
Transfer out to DROP Fund 84,622 84,622
TOTAL DEDUCTIONS 418,512 130,249 548,761
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 354,112 353,230 90,562 4,348 802,252
NET ASSETS HELD IN TRUST
FOR PENSION BENEFITS
AND OTHER PURPOSES
BEGINNING OF YEAR 7,679,178 3,907,249 106,018 78,886 11,771,331
END OF YEAR $ 8033290 $4,260479 $ 196,580 $ 83234 $§ 12,573,583

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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I.

TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2007

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Township of Lower Makefield, Yardley, Pennsylvania (the Township), formed in 1692,
exists as a Second Class Township and is a “local government unit” as defined under the Local
Government Unit Debt Act of the General Assembly of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

The five-member governing body of the Township is the Board of Supervisors. A Township
Manager is appointed by, and serves at the discretion of, the Board of Supervisors to administer
the daily operations of the Township. Principal services provided by the Township include
public safety, maintenance of the roads and highways, culture and recreation, maintenance of
the sewer system and general governmental administration.

The financial statements of the Township have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles as applied to government units. The Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental
accounting and financial reporting principles. The Township also applies Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) statements and interpretations issued on or before
November 30, 1989, to its governmental and business-type activities and to its Proprietary
Funds provided they do not conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements.
Pronouncements of the FASB issued after November 30, 1989, are not applied in the
preparation of the financial statements of the Proprietary Funds.

The most significant of the Township’s accounting policies are described below.

Reporting Entity

In evaluating the Township as a reporting entity, management has addressed all potential
component units for which the Township may or may not be financially accountable and, as
such, be included in the Township’s financial statements. In accordance with GASB Statement
No. 14, the Township is financially accountable if it appoints a voting majority of the
organization governing board and (1) it is able to impose its will on the organization or (2)
there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to or impose
specific financial burden on the Township. Additionally, the primary government is required
to consider other organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with
the primary government are such that exclusion would cause the reporting entity’s financial
statements to be misleading or incomplete.

Management has elected to include the Municipal Sewer Authority of the Township of Lower
Maketfield (the Authority) as a blended component unit in the December 31, 2006 annual
financial report. The authority is reported as if it were part of the Township because its sole
purpose is to finance and construct the Township’s facilities. The Authority issues a separately
audited financial statement. Copies of this report may be obtained from the Township Finance
Director.
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued

Reporting Entity, continued

Management has elected not to include the following potential component units in the
December 31, 2007 annual financial report:

e Yardley-Makefield Fire Company
¢ Lower Makefield Farmland Preservation, Inc.
e Yardley-Makefield Rescue Squad

These entities are under the direction of a separate independent board. These entities are
organized under a separate charter and, therefore, not included in the annual financial report.

Fund Accounting

The Township uses funds to maintain its financial records during the fiscal year. Fund
accounting is designed to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid financial management by
segregating transactions related to certain Township functions or activities. A fund is defined
as a fiscal and accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts. The various funds of the
Township are grouped into the categories governmental, proprietary and fiduciary.

The Township reports the following major Governmental Funds:
General Fund
The General Fund is used to account for all financial resources except those
required to be accounted for in another fund. The General Fund balance is available
for any purpose provided it is expended or transferred according to the general laws
of Pennsylvania.
Capital Reserve Fund (Capital Project Fund)
The Capital Reserve Fund is used to account for financial resources to be used for
acquisitions or construction of major capital assets (other than those financed by the
Street Project Fund, the 9-11 Memorial Fund, and Proprietary Funds).
Street Project Fund (Capital Project Fund)

The Street Project Fund is used to account for financial resources that are used for
the repair or construction of street projects not funded by the Liquid Fuels Funds.

9-11 Memorial Fund

The 9-11 Memorial Fund is used to account for financial resources that are used for
the completion of the Garden of Reflection and Memorial Park.

Debt Service Fund

The Debt Service Fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources for, and
the payment of, general long-term principal, interest and related costs.
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued

Fund Accounting, continued

The Township reports the following major Proprietary Funds:
Sewer Fund

The Sewer Fund accounts for the activities of the sewer system infrastructure,
sewage pumping stations and collection systems.

Community Pool Fund

The Community Pool Fund accounts for the operations of the Township’s
municipal pool.

Golf Course Fund

The Golf Course Fund accounts for the construction and operation of the
Township’s municipal golf course.

Additionally, the Township reports the following fund types:
Special Revenue Funds

Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue
sources. The Township’s Special Revenue Funds include: Liquid Fuels, Hydrant,
Ambulance, Fire Protection, Parks and Recreation, Street Light, Five Mile Woods,
Basin Maintenance, Parks and Recreation Fee-in-Lieu, Library, and Traffic Impact.

Pension Trust Funds

The Pension Trust Funds are used to account for the assets and liabilities held by
the Township in a trustee capacity for the police officers and non-uniform
employees pension plans.

Deferred Retirement Option Plan Fund

The Deferred Retirement Options Plan Fund is used to account for the assets and
liabilities held by the Township in a trustee capacity for police officers within 48
months of retirement (See Note 10).

Unemployment Compensation Trust Fund

The Unemployment Compensation Trust Fund is used to account for the assets and
liabilities related to the Township’s self-insured unemployment compensation coverage.

Agency Fund

The Agency Fund accounts for the assets held as an agent for the various developer
€SCrOWS.
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued

Basis of Presentation and Accounting

Government-Wide Financial Statement

The statement of net assets and the statement of activities display information about the
Township as a whole. These statements include financial activities of the primary government,
except for Fiduciary Funds. The statements distinguish between those activities of the
Township that are governmental and those that are considered business-type activities.

The government-wide statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement
focus and the accrual basis of accounting. This is the same approach used in the preparation of
the Proprietary Funds financial statements but differ from the manner in which Governmental
Funds financial statements are prepared. Governmental Funds financial statements therefore
include a reconciliation with brief explanations to better identify the relationship between the
government-wide statements and the statements for Governmental Funds. Revenues are
recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the
timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which
they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligible
requirements imposed by the provider have been met.

The government-wide statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses
and program revenues for each segment of the business-type activities of the Township and for
each function or program of the Township’s governmental activities. Direct expenses are those
that are specifically associated with a service, program, or department and therefore clearly
identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include charges paid by the recipient of
the goods and services offered by the program and grants and contributions that are restricted to
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues, which are
not classified as program revenues, are presented as general revenues of the Township, with
certain limited exceptions. The comparison of direct expenses with program revenues
identifies the extent to which each business segment or governmental function is self-financing
or draws from the general revenues of the Township.

As a general rule, the effect of the interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-
wide financial statements.

Fund Financial Statements

Fund financial statements report detailed information about the Township. The focus of
Governmental and Proprietary Funds financial statements is on major funds rather than
reporting funds by type. Each major fund is presented in a separate column. Other

Governmental Funds are aggregated and presented in a single column. Fiduciary Funds are
reported by fund type.
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued

Basis of Presentation and Accounting, continued

Fund Financial Statements, continued

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its
measurement focus. All Governmental Funds are accounted for using the current financial
resources measurements focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are
recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be
available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay
liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the Township considers revenues to be
available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the fiscal period. Expenditures are
generally recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt
service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences, and claims and
judgments are recorded only when payment is due. The financial statements for Governmental
Funds are a balance sheet, which generally includes only current assets and current liabilities,
and a statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances, which report on the
sources (i.e., revenues and other financing sources) and uses (i.e., expenditures and other
financing uses) of current financial resources.

All Proprietary Funds are accounted for on a flow of economic resources measurement focus.
With this measurement focus, all assets and all liabilities associated with the operation of these
funds are included on the statement of net assets (deficit). The statement of revenues, expenses
and changes in net assets (deficit) presents increases (i.e., revenues) and decreases (i.e., expenses)
in total net assets. The statement of cash flows provides information about how the Township
finances and meets the cash flow needs of its proprietary activities.

Proprietary Funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and
delivering goods in connection with the Proprietary Funds’ ongoing operations. The principal
operating revenues of the Township’s Enterprise Funds are sewer charges, golf fees and pool
membership fees. Operating expenses for the Township’s Enterprise Funds include supplies,
administrative costs and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues or expenses not meeting this
definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

Fiduciary Funds are reported using the economic resources measurement focus.

When both restricted and nonrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Township’s policy
to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

Cash Eqguivalents

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Proprietary Funds consider all highly liquid
investments with a maturity of three months or less, when purchased, to be cash equivalents.



TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued

Basis of Presentation and Accounting, continued

Investments

Investments are valued at fair value. Investment income attributable to the Township’s
concentration accounts is allocated to the Township’s various funds based on the ratio of each
participating fund’s average balance to the total pooled average balance.

State statutes authorize the Township to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, short-term
obligations of the U.S. Government or its agencies or instrumentalities, obligations of the
United States or any of its agencies or instrumentalities backed by the full faith and credit of
the United States of America, the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or any of its agencies or
instrumentalities backed by the full faith and credit of the political subdivision and insured
certificates of deposit.

Short-Term Interfund Receivables / Pavables

During the course of operations, transactions may occur between individual funds for goods
provided or services rendered. These receivables and payables are classified as “due from
other funds” or “due to other funds” on the Governmental Funds balance sheet. Short-term
interfund loans are classified as “interfund receivables / payables”.

Inventory and Prepaid Expenditures / Expenses

Inventories are valued as cost using the average-cost method. Inventory in the Golf Course
Fund is capitalized under the consumption method, whereby expenditures are capitalized as
inventory until used.

The inventories on hand in the Golf Course Fund at December 31, 2007, consist of the following:

Pro Shop $ 21,420
Food and Beverage 7111
$ 28,531

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded
as prepaid expenditures / expenses in both the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, infrastructures (e.g., roads, bridges, curbs,
sidewalks, drainage systems and lighting systems) and construction in progress, are reported in the
applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial
statements. The Township defines capital assets as assets with an initial, individual cost equal to
or greater then $5,000 (amount not rounded) or purchased with debt proceeds and an estimated
useful life in excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical
cost if purchased on constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair market
value at the date of donation

Lad
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued

Basis of Presentation and Accounting, continued

Capital Assets, continued

The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or
materially extend assets lives are not capitalized.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed.
Interest and real estate taxes incurred during the construction phase of capital assets of
business-type activities are included as part of the capitalized value of the assets constructed
and associated land.

Property, plant and equipment of the Township are depreciated using the straight-line method
over the following estimated useful lives:

Years
Infrastructure 20
Land Improvements 5-40
Plant and Pools 4-40
Building and Building Improvements 40
Furniture and Equipment 5
Vehicles 3-10

Long-Term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements and Proprietary Funds in the fund financial
statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the
applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or Proprietary Funds statement of
net assets (deficit). Bond / note premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred
and amortized over the life of the bonds. Bond / notes payable are reported net of the
applicable bond premium or discount. Bond / note issue costs are reported as deferred charges
and amortized over the term of the related debt.

In the fund financial statements, Governmental Funds recognize bond / note premiums and
discounts, as well as bond / note issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of
debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are
reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other
financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received,
are reported as debt service expenditures.
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued

Basis of Presentation and Accounting, continued

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue arises when a potential revenue does not meet both the “measurable” and
“available” criteria for recognition in the current period. Deferred revenue also arises when
resources are received by the Township before it has a legal claim to them, as when grant
monies are received prior to the incurrence of qualifying expenditures. Tn subsequent periods,
when both revenue recognition criteria are met or when the Township has a legal claim to the
resources, the liability for deferred revenue is removed from the Governmental Funds balance
sheet and revenue is recognized.

Fund Equity
In the fund financial statements, Governmental Funds report reservations of fund balance for

amounts that are not available for appropriation or are legally restricted by outside parties for
use for a specific purpose.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported
amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Real Estate Tax Calendar

Property taxes are levied no later than the fourth Monday in March of each year based on
assessed values as of the preceding January 1 for all real property located in the Township.
Taxpayers are granted discounts if payments are made within 60 days of billing and are subject
to penalties if payments are not made within 120 days from the billing date. An elected tax
collector monitors, collects and remits property taxes to the Township.

The Township also annually levies a $10 per capita tax on all residents over the age of 18. In
addition, real estate transfer taxes are levied at a rate of .5% on the transfer of title of real
property in the Township.

The tax collector, who is responsible for collecting taxes on behalf of the Township, County
and School District, is an elected official. The Township regards the tax collector’s office as a
separate entity and, therefore, does not account for its activity in the financial statements.

Compensated Absences

The Township accounts for compensated absences by complying with GASB Statement No. 16,
Accounting for Compensated Absences. This statement requires a liability be reported for certain
compensated absences as the benefits are earned by employees instead of when they are paid.

Certain Township employees are entitled to vacation pay based on years of service. Police
officers are entitled to a maximum of 60 days sick pay upon retirement. In addition, per the
terms of the Township’s police contract, officers are due certain other benefits after retirement.
These benefits include six months of medical and life insurance coverage and supplemental
cash payments.
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, continued

Basis of Presentation and Accounting, continued

Deferred Charges

Deferred charges consist of bond and note issue costs, which are amortized over the life of
the debt.

Deferred Accumulated
Charges Amortization Net
Governmental Activities $ 69,963 $ (20,125) $ 49,838
Business-Type Activities
Sewer Funds 137,656 (9,177) 128,479
Golf Course Fund 209,089 (63.,855) 145,234
346,745 (73,032) 273,713
$ 416,708 $ (93,157 $ 323,551

DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

Deposits
Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the Township’s deposits may
not be returned to it. The Township follows state statue as it relates to custodial credit risk. As
of December 31, 2007, the carrying amount of the Township’s deposits was $11,278,374. The
Township’s bank balance was $11,396,447, of which $11,254,573 was exposed to custodial
credit risk as follows:

Uninsured and collateralized with securities
held by the pledging bank’s trust department
not in the Township’s name $ 11,254,573
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2007

2. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS, continued
Investments, continued
Interest Rate Risk

As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from interest rates, the Township’s Pension
Trust Funds” investment policy limits investments to the following criteria:

Asset Allocation Minmimum Maximum
Cash 0% 10%
Fixed Income 30% 50%
Equities 50% 70%
Restrictions

Fixed Income

e Average credit quality — AA, maximum of 10% in BBB.
e Minimum issuer credit quality — investment grade.
e Duration range — 80% to 120% of index duration.
e No maturity may exceed 30 vears.
Equities

e Mutual funds are acceptable vehicles for equity allocation.
The allocation may include international and small cap funds.

The Township’s Pension Trust Funds met these requirements. All other investments of the Township
follow state statute as it relates to interest rate risk.

Credit Risk

The Township’s Pension Trust Funds’ credit risk policy is described under interest rate risk restrictions.
The Township’s investments in corporate bonds have ratings ranging from A1 to AA3 by Moody’s.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Township’s Pension Trust Funds’ concentration of credit risk is described in Note 7.
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31. 2007

4. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES / PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS

Interfund receivables and payables are summarized as follows:

Interfund Interfund
Receivable Payable
General Fund $ 76,787 $ 16,614
Capital Reserve Fund 98.276
Street Project Fund 141,476
Debt Service Fund 3,801 177.861
Fire Protection Fund 6,421 14.657
Other Governmental Funds 472,479 183,350
Enterprise Funds
Sewer Fund 17,384 31,130
Community Pool Fund 42 457
Golf Course Funds 67,603
Total $ 675,148 $ 675,148

Activity between funds that is representative of lending / borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of
the year is referred to as “due from / due to other funds”. Any residual balances outstanding between the
governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial
statements as “internal balances”. The amounts between Other Governmental Funds and the Golf Course
Fund are interfund borrowings to purchase equipment.

Interfund transfers are summarized as follows:

Operating Operating
Transfers Transfers
In Out
General Fund $ 354,791 $ 330,258
Debt Service Fund 282.848
Other Governmental Funds 428,935
Enterprise Funds
Sewer Fund ) 144,375
Community Pool Fund 64,329
Golf Course Fund
Pension Trust Funds
Police Pension 330,258 84,622
Deferred Retirement
Option Plan Fund 84,622
Total $1.052.519 $1,052.519

The Township typically transfers budgeted dollar amounts from the General Fund to the Pension Trust Fund
to fund the Township’s current year minimum municipal obligation.
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. CAPITAL ASSETS

A summary of changes in capital assets is as follows:

Balance Balance
January 1, Disposals and December 31,
2007 Additions Reclassifications 2007
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated
Land $ 18,418.249 5 h) $ 18418249
Infrastructure 48,995 649 125,089 341,048 49,461,786
Construction in Progress 2,383,408 {2,383,408)
TOTAL CAPITAL ASSETS
NOT BEING DEPRECIATED 69,797,306 (2,258,319) 341,048 67,880,035
Capital Assets Being Depreciated
Infrastructure 1,489,171 (341,048 1,148,123
Land Improvements 3,088,848 3,456,769 6,545,617
Buildings and Improvements 7,446,754 56,069 7,502,823
Furniture and Equipment 2,855,337 78,658 2,933,995
Vehicles 4,111,718 201,275 (441,356) 3,961,637
18,991,828 3,882,771 (782,404) 22,092,195
Accumulated Depreciation {9,217,978) (1,040,120) 441,356 (9,816,742)
TOTAL CAPITAL ASSETS, NET 9,773,850 2,842,651 {341,048) 12,275,453
TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL
ACTIVITIES CAPITAL ASSETS, NET 79,571,156 584,332 80,155,488
BUSINESS ACTIVITIES
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated
Land 4,197,081 4,197,081
Construction in Progress 4,532 4,532
TOTAL CAPITAL ASSETS
NOT BEING DEPRECIATED 4,197,081 4,532 4,201,613
Capital Assets Being Depreciated
Land Improvements 8,732,164 9,969 8,742,133
Plant and Pools 37,368,574 1,720,983 39,089,557
Buildings and Improvements 2,855,977 2,855,977
Furniture and Equipment 1,485,601 1,485,601
TOTAL CAPITAL ASSETS
BEING DEPRECIATED 50,442,316 1,730,952 52,173,268
Accumulated Depreciation (18,489,853) {1,333,018) (19,822.871)
TOTAL CAPITAL ASSETS, NET 31,852.463 397,934 32,350,397
TOTAL BUSINESS ACTIVITY
CAPITAL ASSETS, NET 36,149,544 402,466 36,552,010
TOTAL CAPITAL ASSETS, NET $ 115,720,700 $ 986,798 $ $ 116,707,498
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5. CAPITAL ASSETS, continued

The net book value of each capital assets categorv for governmental and business activity is as follows:

Accumulated Net
Cost Depreciation Book Value

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated
Land $ 18418249 $ 18418249
Infrastructure 49,461,786 49,461,786
Capital Assets Being Depreciated
Infrastructure 1,148,123 (709,946) 438,137
Land Improvements 6,545,617 (1,702,153) 4,843,464
Buildings and Improvements 7,502,823 (2,442,051) 5,060,772
Furniture and Equipment 2,933,995 (2,554,094) 379,901
Vehicles 3,961,637 (2.,408,498) 1,553,139

TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL

ACTIVITIES 89,972,230 (9,816,742) 80,155,488
BUSINESS ACTIVITIES
Capital Assets Not Being Depreciated
Land 4,197,081 4,197,081
Construction in Progress 4.532 4,532
Capital Assets Being Depreciated
Land Improvements 8,742,133 (834,206) 7,907,927
Plant and Pools 39,089,557 (17,782,332) 21,307,225
Buildings and Improvements 2,855,977 (500,698 ) 2,355,279
Furniture and Equipment 1,485,601 ( 705,635) 779,966

TOTAL BUSINESS

ACTIVITIES 56,374,881 (19,822,871) 36,552,010

TOTALS $ 146,347.111 $(29,639,613) $ 116,707,498

Depreciation expense was charged to governmental functions as follows:

General Government $ 205,160
Public Safety 248.901
Public Works 325,671
Parks & Recreation 260,388
Total $ 1,040,120




6. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following is a summary of long-term liability activity of the Township
for the year ended December 31, 2007:

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

General Obligation Bonds:
Series of 2003
Series of 2006

General Obligation Notes;
Series A of 2001
Series B of 2001
Series of 2004

Notes Payable
Commonwealth of PA, PEMA
Bucks County:
Land Purchase
Equipment Purchase
PNC Bank
Deferred Amounts:
Issuance Premiums
TOTALS

Compensated Absences
TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL
ACTIVITIES

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES
General Obligation Bonds:
Series of 2005
Series of 2006
General Obligation Notes;
Series A of 2002
Series B of 2002
Deferred Amounts
Issuance Discounis
TOTAL BUSINESS-TYPE
ACTIVITIES

TOTAL LONG-TERM
LIABILITIES

Principal Principal
Outstanding Outstanding
January 1, Deletions / December 31, Due Within
2007 Maturities 2007 One Year
$ 7.027.178 $ (507175 $ 6,520,000 $ 535,000
678,740 (17,135) 661,605 17,880
1,740,600 (561,000) 1,179,000 579,000
4,655,000 4,655,000
2.919.000 (85,000} 2,834,000 89,000
119,511 (8,832) 110,679 9,011
311,894 (37,297 274,597 38,982
17,248 (1,568) 15,680 1,568
17,468,568 (1,218.007) 16,250,561 1,270,441
845,134 75,733 920,867
18,313,702 (1,142,274) 17,171,428 1,270,441
7,590,000 (390,000) 7,200,000 400,000
8,611,260 (212.865) 8.398.395 240,000
3,470,000 3,470,000
5,036,000 5,036,000
(57.507) 2,806 (54,701) (3,406)
24,649,753 (600.059) 24,049,694 636,594
$ 42,963,455 $(1,742,333) $41,221,122 $1,907.035




TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
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6. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES, confinued

Bonds and notes payable at December 31, 2007, consisted of:

General Obligation Note, Series of 2004, payable to

Delaware Valley Regional Finance Authority (DVRFA)

for the purpose of acquiring open space and constructing

Township parks and facilities; principal was payable

annually beginning June, 2006, interest was payable

monthly beginning December, 2004, at a variable rate,

with maturity scheduled for June, 2028. $ 2,834,000

General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2003, issued in

2003 for the purpose of refunding the Township’s

General Obligation Bonds, Series of 1997 and 1998;

principal was payable annually beginning December,

2003, interest was payable semiannually beginning

June 2003 at rates ranging from 1.15% to 4.45%. 6,520,000

General Obligation Note, Series A of 2001, payable to

DVRFA for the purpose of refunding the Township’s

General Obligation Bonds, Series of 1993; principal was

payable annually beginning December, 2001, interest

was payable monthly beginning July, 2001, at a rate of

4.08%, with maturity scheduled for December, 2009. 1,179,000

General Obligation Note, Series B of 2001, payable to

DVRFA for the purpose of renovating buildings and

facilities, the acquisition of open space and the

acquisition of fire equipment and facilities; principal

will be payable annually beginning December, 2010,

interest was payable monthly beginning July, 2001,

at a rate of 5.01%, with maturity scheduled for

December, 2021. 4,655,000

Note payable to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania

Emergency Management Agency for the purpose of

constructing an emergency services building and related

improvements; the note was issued to the Yardley-

Makefield Rescue Squad; the Township assumed

payments on the note in July,2001, with the acquisition of

The Rescue Squad Building; principal and

interest are due monthly at a rate of 2% through

January, 2019. 110.679

SUBTOTAL $ 15.298.679
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6. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES, continued

SUBTOTAL FORWARD $ 15,298,679

Note payable to PNC Bank for the purpose of construction of

an emergency services building and related improvements;

principal and interest is payable quarterly at a rate of

4.46% through January, 2014; a corresponding note

receivable from the Rescue Squad has been established for

repayment of principal plus accrued interest to the Township 274,597

General Obligation Note, Series A of 2002, payable to

DVRFA for the purpose of construction of a municipal golf

course; principal will be payable annually beginning

June, 2022, interest was payable monthly beginning

June, 2003, at a variable rate not to exceed 3.5%, with

maturity scheduled for June, 2028. 3,470,000

General Obligation Note, Series B of 2002, payable to

DVRFA for the purpose of construction a municipal golf

course; principal will be payable annually beginning

June, 2022, interest was payable monthly beginning

June, 2003, at a variable rate not to exceed 3.5%, with

maturity scheduled for June, 2028. 5,036,000

General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2005, issued in

2005 for the purpose of refinancing the Township’s

General Obligation Notes, Series A and B of 2002

principal was payable annually beginning June, 2006,

interest was payable semiannually beginning

December, 2005, at rates ranging from 2.55% to 4.35%,

with maturity scheduled for June, 2021. 7,200,000

SUBTOTAL 31.279.276
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6. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES, continued

SUBTOTAL FORWARD 31,279,276

General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2006, issued in

2006 for the purpose of advance refinancing a portion of the 2003

Series that pertains to the sewer system and with funding

current sewer system renovations and purchase of fire equipment;

principal was payable annually beginning in September, 2006,

interest was payable semi-annually beginning in September,

2006, at fixed intervals, ranging from 3.50% to 4.50%,

with maturity scheduled for June, 2021. 9.060.000

$ 40,339,276

Funds to repay outstanding bonds and notes will be provided from future taxes, other general
revenues and charges for services. Total interest expense paid during the year ended December
31,2007, was $1,753,091. Interest costs incurred and charged to expenditures for the year ended
December 31, 2007, were $29,313 in the Fire Fund, $732,333 in the Debt Service Fund,
$364.668 in the Sewer Fund and $626,777 in the Golf Course Fund.

Bond Issuance and Advance Refunding

In a prior year, Township defeased certain bonds by placing the proceeds of new bonds in an
irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payments on the bonds. Accordingly, the trust
account assets and the liability for the defeased bonds are not included in the general purpose financial
statements. At December 31, 2007, the Township’s portion of bonds outstanding that are considered
defeased is $1,335,000.
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6. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES, continued

Debt Service Requirements

A summary of long-term debt service requirements to maturity, including principal and interest, other than
compensated absences is as follows:

Year Ending Total Debt
June 30 Principal Interest Service
2008 $ 1,907,035 $ 1,538,215 $  3,445250
2009 1,790,633 1.448.729 3,239,362
2010 1,560,158 1,475,046 3,035,204
2011 1,613,230 1,459,699 3,072,929
2012 1,667,539 1,397,541 3,065,080
2013 t0 2017 9,236,077 5,918,929 15,145,006
2018 to0 2022 9,326,604 3,785,870 13,122,474
2023 10 2027 6,298,000 2,040,901 8,338,901
2028 to 2032 6,940,000 620,550 7.560.,550

$ 40339276 $ 19.685.480 $ 60,024,756

The Township is subject to the Local Governmental Unit Debt Act of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania, which limits the amount of net bonded debt the Township may have outstanding as
of a point of time. The Township’s bonded indebtedness as of the statement of net assets date is
not excess of statutory limits,

The various bond indentures contain limitations and restrictions on annual debt service
requirements, maintenance of flow of monies through various sinking funds. Management
believes the Township is in compliance with all such significant financial limitations and
restrictions.

7. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS

Description of Plans

The Township of Lower Makefield sponsors a single employer defined benefit pension plan for
both police officers and non-police employees of the Township. These plans are included in the
Pension Trust Fund of the Township and are controlled by various ordinances adopted pursuant
to Pennsylvania Act 205.
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7. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS, continued

At January 1, 2007 (the most recent valuation date), the Township’s pension plan membership consisted of:

Police Non-Uniform
Pension Pension
Plan Plan
Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving
benefits and terminated employees entitled
to benefits but not yet receiving them 12 22
Current Employees 32 31
TOTAL MEMBERSHIP 44 53

Police Pension Plan

The Township sponsors a Public Employee Retirement System (PERS) to provide retirement and
disability benefits as well as the return of members’ contributions in the event of death. For the
year ended December 31, 2007 the plan’s assets were managed by Glenmede Trust Company.
All benefits vest after 12 years of credited service. Employees who retire at or after age 55 with
25 years of credited service are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for life,
in an amount equal to 50% of their final average salary. Final average salary is the employee’s
average base salary over the last three years of credited service. Covered employees are not
currently required to contribute to the pension plan. If an employee leaves covered employment
or dies before age 65, accumulated employee contributions plus related investment earnings are
refunded to the employee or designated beneficiary. The Township is required by statute,
principally Pennsylvania Act 205, to contribute the remaining amounts necessary to finance the
plan. Benefit and contribution provisions are established by Pennsylvania law and may be
amended only as allowed by Pennsylvania law.

Non-Uniform Pension Plan

The Township sponsors a Public Employee Retirement System (PERS) to provide retirement
benefits as well as death and disability benefits. For the year ended December 31, 2007, the
plan’s assets were managed by Glenmede Trust Company. All benefits vest after five years of
credited service. Employees who retire at or after age 65 with five years of credited service are
entitled to an annual retirement benefit paid monthly for life in an amount equal to 1.75% of
average annual compensation multiplied by credited service up to 30 years. Final average salary
1s the employee’s average salary, including overtime, over the three years of credited service.

Employees with five years of credited service may retire at or after age 55 and receive a reduced
retirement benefit.
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7. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS. continued

Covered employees are not currently required by statute to contribute to the pension plan. The
Township is required by statute, principally Pennsylvania Act 203, to contribute the amounts
necessary to find the plans. Benefit and contribution provisions are established by Pennsylvania
law and may be amended only as allowed by Pennsylvania law.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting
Pension plan financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Employee
and employer contributions are recognized as revenues in the period in which employee services

are performed.

Metheod Used 1o Value Investments

Investments are reported at fair value. Market related value of assets is used to determine the
indicated contribution.

Financial Reporting
A separate financial statement is not issued on the pension plans.

Contributions

Act 205 requires that annual contributions to the plan be based upon the plan’s minimum
municipal obligation (MMO). The MMO is based upon the plan’s biennial actuarial valuation.
The plan may also be eligible to receive an allocation of state aid from the General Municipal
Pension System State Aid Program, which must be used for pension funding. Any funding
requirements established by the MMO in excess of employee contributions and state aid must be
paid by the municipality in accordance with Act 205.

Plan Expenses

Plan expenses are paid from plan assets.

Concentrations

At December 31, 2007, there were no investments of the Police Pension Plan (other than U.S.
Government and U.S. Government guaranteed obligations and mutual funds) in any one
organization that represented 5% or more of net assets available for benefits ($7,770,719 x .05 =
$388,536). Investments in mutual funds do not require disclosure of concentration per GASB
Statement No. 25.
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7. DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS, continued

At December 31, 2007, there were no investments of the Non-Police Pension Plan (other than U.S.
Government and U.S. Government guaranteed obligations) in any one organization that represented
5% or more of net assets available for benefits ($4,019,001 x .05 = $200,950). Investments in
mutual funds do not require disclosure of concentration per GASB Statement No. 25.
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2007

The information presented in the required supplementary schedules was determined as part of the actuarial
valuations at the dates indicated. Additional information as of the latest actuarial valuation follows:

Police Pension Plan

Valuation date January 1, 2007
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal cost
Amortization method Level dollar (open basis)
Remaining amortization period 15.44 years

Assets valuation method Fair value

Actuarial assumptions
Investment rate of return 8%

Projected salary increases 5%

Non-Uniform Pensien Plan

Valuation date January 1, 2007
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal cost
Amortization method Level dollar (open basis)
Remaining amortization period 16.51 years

Assets valuation method Fair value

Actuarial assumptions

o

Investment rate of return 8%

(=3

Projected salary increases 5%



8.

10.

TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRANSACTIONS WITH DEVELOPERS

In connection with the development agreements for the construction of residential housing
within the Township, the Township receives contributions from developers to finance various
infrastructure and related costs and to fund legal, engineering and other costs of
administering regulatory responsibilities concerning development of real estate.

The Township also receives developer deposits applicable to plan review and development
billing activities. In such instances, the Township is required to hold such deposits in escrow
and refund amounts not ultimately required to fund anticipated administrative costs.
Potentially refundable deposits are accounted for in Agency Funds, which reflect a liability to
various developers of $184,661 as of December 31, 2007.

DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

The Township offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with
Internal Revenue Code Section 457. The plan permits employees to defer a portion of their
salary until future years. The deferred compensation is not available to employees until
termination, retirement, death, or unforeseeable emergency.

Contributions are invested with an outside trustee, ICMA Retirement Corporation.

On August 21, 2000, the Board of Supervisors passed a resolution to comply with GASB
Statement No. 32, dccounting and Financial Reporting for Internal Revenue Code Section
457 Deferred Compensation Plans, reestablishing the [ICMA Retirement Corporation
Deferred Compensation Plan and Trust. The resolution directs that the assets of the plan
shall be held in trust, with the Township serving as Trustee, for the exclusive benefit of plan
participants and their beneficiaries. and the assets shall not be diveried to any other purpose.
The assets have been removed from the Township’s financial statements.

DEFERRED RETIREMENT OPTION PLAN

The Township sponsors a Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP) for members of the
police department who have not retired prior to the implementation date (May 2005) of the
DROP. Employees may enter into the DROP on the first day of any month following
completion of 25 years of credited service and attaining the age of 55. When electing to
participate in the DROP, the employee must resign from employment no less than 12 months
and no more than 48 months from the execution of the DROP option. An employee may
elect in writing to terminate participation in the DROP any time up to six months before the
previously selected resignation date. Once termination is elected, the employee is barred
from any future participation in the program.
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10. DEFERRED RETIREMENT OPTION PLAN, continued

After the effective date of the DROP option, the employee shall no longer earn or accrue
additional years of continuous service for pension purposes. Earnings or increases in
earnings thereafier shall not be recognized or used for the calculation or determination of any
benefits payable by the Police Pension Fund. The monthly retirement benefits that would
have been payable had the employee elected to cease employment and receive a normal
retirement benefit shall, upon the employee commencing participation in the DROP, be paid
into the separate account established to receive that participant’s monthly pension payments.
All other contractual benefits shall continue to accrue, with the exception of those provisions
relating to the Police Pension Plan.

Upon the termination date set forth in the employee’s DROP option notice or such date as the
Township separates the employee from employment, the retirement benefits payable to the
employee or employee’s beneficiary, if applicable, shall be paid to the employee or
beneficiary and shall no longer be paid to the employee’s DROP account. Within 30 days
following termination of an employee’s employment, the balance in the employee’s DROP
account shall be paid to the employee in a single lump-sum payment or, at the employee’s
option, in any fashion permitted by law.

The Township has entered into an administrative service agreement with The International
City Management Association Retirement Corporation (RC). RC acts as investment adviser
to the Vantage Trust (the “Trust™). The Trust is a common law trust governed by an elected
Board of Trustees for the commingled investment of retirement funds held by state and local
government units for their employees. The Township has adopted the Declaration of Trust of
the Trust and agrees to the commingled investments of assets of the DROP within the Trust.
Cost of management of the DROP shall be paid directly from the Police Pension Fund and
not by the Township.

Any amendments to the DROP Ordinance shall be consistent with the provisions covering
deferred retirement option plans set forth in the collective bargaining agreement and shall be
binding upon all future DROP participants and existing participants.

No DROP payment shall be made unless and until the Pennsylvania Legislature authorizes
the adoption of the DROP program for police officers employed by a Township of the
Second Class or a final judicial determination issues from the Pennsylvania Appellate Court
that such DROP benefits is lawful for police officers employed by a Township of the Second
Class. In the event that either of these two situations occur, the DROP will be modified only
to the extent necessary to become compliant with the maximum then allowed by law for
DROP programs. If neither of these occur by the DROP date, the participant shall receive his

full pension benefits as set forth in the Police Pension Ordinance as if no such DROP election
were made.
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11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Lease Agreement — The Municipal Sewer Authority of the Township of Lower Makefield

Any December 1, 1991, the Township entered into a lease agreement with The Municipal
Sewer Authority of the Township of Lower Makefield, which superseded the 1978 lease
agreement. The Authority leases the sewer system to the Township for operation and use
for one dollar ($1) per annum. The lease expired on March 14, 2005, and was renewed on
August 2, 2006 for a period of 25 years, expiring on December 31, 2031. The payments
remain at $1 per annum.

Equipment lease

In May 2004, the Township entered into a lease purchase agreement for golf carts to be used
at the Makefield Highlands Golf Club. The lease terms call for monthly rental payments of
$4,646, including interest, beginning June 2004 through May 2008. At the end of the lease
term, the Township has the option to purchase the golf carts for the total of all rents still
outstanding, including accrued interest, and the termination value of $119,750. The lease is
not being treated as a capital lease because the Township has no intention of purchasing the
golf carts at the end of the lease. Therefore, the total value of the equipment has not been
included in the capital assets of the Golf Course Fund. Total rent expense for the year ended
December 31, 2007, was $55,747.

The future minimum lease payments are as follows:

Year Ending
December 31

2008 $ 23,230

Self-Insured Unemplovment Compensation

The Township self-insured for unemployment compensation coverage. A reserve of $83,234
is established at December 31, 2007. During 2007, there were no claims.

Litigation
The Township is the defendant in several lawsuits arising in the normal course of operations.
In the opinion of management, the outcome of these lawsuits will not have a material adverse

effect on the accompanying financial statements, and, accordingly no provision for losses had
been recorded.
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Township is exposed to various risk of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The
township participates in a public entity risk pool (Delaware Valley Insurance Trust [DVIT])
operated as a common risk management and insurance program for municipalities. The Trust
retains the first $250,000 of each general liability, police professional liability and
automobile liability loss. DVIT assumes the first $100,000 of each first party property loss
public official liability claim. Reinsurance coverage is through commercial companies. The
Trust also serves as group purchaser of boiler and machinery and crime and public official
policies for its members.

The calculation of premium contributions, loss assessments and any redistribution or surplus
is predicated on each participant’s individual loss history. An experience modification factor
is applied to annual membership contributions.

The Township continues to carry commercial insurance for all other risks of loss, including
workers’ compensation and employee health and accident insurance.

Settled claims resulting from all risks have not exceeded commercial and DVIT insurance
coverage in any of the past three years.

MUNICIPAL SEWER AUTHORITY

In accordance with agreements with The Municipal Sewer Authority of the Township
of Lower Makefield, all repairs, renewals, replacements, improvements, additions and
extensions and all real estate made or acquired by (or dedicated to) the Township in
connection with the sewer system shall become the property of the Authority and part of
the sewer system.

ACQUISITION

On August 31, 2001, the Yardley Makefield Emergency Unit agreed to transfer title and
interest in the Emergency Rescue Squad Building to the Township. This was due to the
financial problems of the Emergency Unit. The Township capitalized $1,151,410 (equity in
the building). This included assuming $700,475 of outstanding obligations, payment to the
Emergency Unit of $100,000, a credit of $56,000 in funds provided to the Emergency Unit in
2000 and a balance due by the Township to the Emergency Unit in the amount of $294,935.
The balance due shall be reduced $25,000 per year and recognized as rental income by the

Township over a period of 12 years. The outstanding balance is $170,531 at December 31,
2007.
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT

In July 2003, the Township entered into a management agreement with Kemper Sports
Management, Inc. to manage the day-to-day operations of the Makefield Highlands Golf
Club. Phase II of the agreement began on the date Phase I (pre-opening phase) terminated
and shall terminate on the December 31 following the fifth anniversary of the opening date
(July 1, 2004). Throughout Phase II, the Township is required to pay $7,500 per month.
This fee will be increased annually by a percentage equal to the Consumer Price Index each
year on the anniversary of Phase II. Additionally, the Township will pay, no later than 60
days after the end of each calendar year. The following is the additional incentive fee
calculation:

GROSS RECEIPTS BETWEEN

$2,000,001 and $2,500,000.........cccoviiiiiiiiis, 5%
$2,500,001 and $3,500,000........ccciiiiiiiiiiiian, 7%
Greater than $3,500,000. ..., 10%

The Township paid a total of $98.540 in management fees and $50,316 in incentive fees
during the year ended December 31, 2007.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Township entered into its General Obligation Notes, Series of 2001A, 2001B, 2002A,
2002B and 2004, with the DVRFA. In order to provide funds for the notes, the DVRFA
issued Local Government Revenue Bonds, Series of 1997, 1998 and 2002 (DVRFA Bonds).
The DVRFA has entered into an interest rate swap agreement related to the DVRFA Bonds
to provide variable and fixed rates on loans, to reduce the costs of participants in the loan
program and to enhance the ability of participants to manage their interest rate risks. The
following is 2 summary of the Township’s general obligation notes with DVRFA and the
estimated termination payment at December 31, 2007:

Original Outstanding at
General Issue December 31,
Obligation Notes Amount 2007 Fair Value
Series of 2001 A $ 4,624,000 $1.,179,000 $  (22.668)
Series of 2001B 4,655,000 4,655,000 (288,339)
Series of 2002A 10,300,000 3,470,000 299,759
Series of 2002B 5,661,000 5,036,000 627,575
Series of 2004 3.000.000 2.834.000 353.167
$ 28,240,000 $ 17,174,000 $ 969494

57



16.

17.

18.

TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, continued

If the Township defaults on all or a portion of the above-mentioned general obligation notes
with DVRFA, it may owe costs, if any, associated with the liquidation or termination of the
respective fixed rate swap used by the DVRFA to provide the fixed rate to the Township.
The carrying amount of the related interest rate swap at December 31, 2006, on the
Township’s government-wide and fund financial statements is $0. The fair value or
estimated Township termination payment is $ 969,494 at December 31, 2007.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The costs of the cash and cash equivalents are reasonable estimates of the fair value because
the cash equivalents have maturities of, or can be liquidated at par in 90 days or less. The
fair values of the derivative financial instruments have been estimated based upon the
termination payment the DVRFA would receive (pay) if the associated swap agreements
were terminated on December 31, 2006 (Note 16).

A comparison of carrying value and fair value as of December 31, 2007, is as follows:

Carrying
Value Fair Value

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) $11,278,374 $ 11,396,447

Investments (Note 2) 11,986,300 11,986,300
LIABILITIES

Bonds payable (Note 6) $ 22,780,000 $ 22,780,000

Notes payable (Note 6) 17,559,276 17,559,276
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Note 16) $ $ 969.494

POTENTIAL SALE OF SEWER SYSTEM

During fiscal year 2007, Lower Makefield Township contracted with the firm of
Howard Woods and Associates, to explore the possibility of selling the township owned
and operated sewer system. Howard Woods and Associates explored the feasibility of a
sale by initiating contact with potential buyers and preparing a comprehensive Request
for Proposal, RFP. At the time of this audit report, Lower Makefield Township was

entertaining an offer from a qualified provider to sell the sewer system during the 2008
fiscal year.
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

BUDGETARY COMPARISON STATEMENT
GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Actual Positive
REVENUES Criginal Final GAAP Basis (Negative)
Taxes $ 5446816 § 5446816 $ 5714574 % 267758
Fees. licenses and permits 764,633 764,633 894 892 130,259
Interest and rents 393,756 393,756 352,254 (41,502)
Intergovernmental revenues 500,010 500,010 560,701 60,691
Fines and forfeits 89,500 89,500 80,649 (8,851)
Charges for services 548,420 548,420 421,379 (127,041
Contributions 10,250 10,250 2,220 (8,030)
Miscellaneous 15,050 15,050 (15,050)
TOTAL REVENUES 7,768,435 7.768,435 8,026,669 258,234
EXPENDITURES
General governinent 1,818,864 1,818,864 1,693,019 125,845
Public safety 3,469,828 3,469,828 4,019,403 (549,575)
Public works 1,255,253 1,255,253 1,058,765 196,488
Insurance 326,075 326,075 313,903 12,172
Employee benefits 1,549,550 1,549,550 1,447 678 101,872
Miscellaneous 18,500 18,500 18,500
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 8,438,070 8,438,070 8.532.768 (94,698)
EXCESS OF REVENUES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES {669,635) (669,635) (506,099) 163,536
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Refimd prior year expenditure 63,571 63,571
Sale of capital assets 10,000 10,000 2,086 (7,914)
Transfers in 311.591 311.591 354,791 43200
Transfers out (622,467) (622.467) (330,258) 292,209
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) (300,876) (300,876) 90,190 391,066
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN
FUND BALANCE (970,511 (970,511) (415,909 554,602
FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING 1,431,192 1,431,192 1,431,192
FUND BALANCE, ENDING $ 460,681 $ 460,681 § 1015283 § 554,602

See notes to required supplementary information
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
NOTES TO THE BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

1. BUDGETARY INFORMATION

The Township’s process for establishing its annual operating budget involves submission of the
budget by the Township Manager to the Board of Supervisors for its approval and adoption. The
Township Manager, Finance Director and Budget Review Committee are responsible for the
preparation of the annual budget.

The budgetary process consists of the evaluation and review of appropriation requests of the
operating directors and various Township departments. Revenue estimates are made throughout
the process to determine the amount of Township property taxes and other revenue required to
balance the budget.

The Board of Supervisors is required to introduce the budget for the following year by 20 days
prior to the end of the fiscal year, after which it is advertised and reviewed at public hearings
held by the Board of Supervisors of the Township. After the close of the public hearings, the
Board of Supervisors approves and adopts the budget on or before December 31, the close of the
Township’s fiscal year.

The Township Supervisors may authorize supplemental appropriations for any lawful purpose
via resolution. In addition, the Supervisors are permitted to transfer funds from one Township
account to another, however, such transfers are not permitted during the first three months of the
fiscal year. Appropriations lapse at the close of the fiscal year to the extent they have not been
expended. It is the Township’s policy to maintain budgetary control at the fund level.

The Township prepares budgets for Governmental Funds on a basis of accounting which is
consistent with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

2. EXCESS OF EXPENDITURES OVER APPROPRIATIONS

For the year ended December 31, 2007, expenditures exceeded appropriations in the following
General Fund object levels (the legal level of the budgetary control):

Public Safety $549,575

This over-expenditure was funded by available fund balance in the General Fund.

60



TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
TREND DATA ON INFRASTRUCTURE CONDITION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

The Township has elected to use the modified approach to account for maintenance of its streets
system. The Township annually inspects its streets, and the Township engineers use the Micro
PAVER program, developed by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, as part of a pavement
management system to describe the condition of all roadways in the Township. The streets are
rated on their life expectancy before milling and overlay work is needed. The rating is the
probable number of years remaining before resurfacing work is needed. The Township’s streets
as a whole are given an overall rating, indicating the average condition of all streets operated by
the Township. The assessment of condition is made by visual and mechanical tests designed to
reveal any condition that would reduce highway-user benefits below the maximum level of
service. The Township’s policy is to maintain the street condition at a level of 65 or better. The
results of the last inspection were:

Evaluation
Period Rating
2007 65

The budgeted expenditures and amounts actually expensed for maintenance and preservation for
the past year are as follows:

Budget Actual
2007 $300.000 $197.500

The next inspection of Township roadways is scheduled to be completed in early 2011.
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TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
PENSION PLAN FUNDING PROGRESS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS

Historical trend information about the plans is presented herewith as required supplementary
information. It is intended to help users assess the plans’ funding status on a going-concern basis,
assess progress made in accumulating assets to pay benefits when due and make comparisons
with other state and local government retirement systems.

The actuarial information is required by Act 205 biennially, except for distressed pension plans,
which require annual reporting. The historical information required to be disclosed, beginning as
of January 1, 2007, is as follows:

Unfunded
{Assets in Excess
Actuarial Unfunded offAAL as a
Actuarial  Actuarial Accrued {Assets in Annual Percentage of
Valuation  Valueof Liability (AAL) Excess of) Funded Covered Annual Covered
Date Assets Entry Age AAL Ratio Payroli Payroll
January 1, a b b-a alb c {b-a)lc
2001 5,551,269 5,830,396 279,127 95.2% 1,532,797 18.2%
2003 5432735 6,658,810 1,226,075 81.6% 1,730,301 70.9%
2005 6,517,334 7,594,862 1,077,528 85.8% 2,225538 48.4%
2007 7679178 8,440,447 761,269 91.0% 2,246,198 33.9%
Non-Uniform Pension Plan
Unfunded
{Assets in Excess
Actuarial Unfunded of) AAL as a
Actuarial  Actuarial Accrued {Assets in Annual Percentage of
Valuation  Valueof Liability (AAL) Excessof) Funded Covered Annual Covered
Date Assets Entry Age AAL Ratio Payroli Payroll
January 1, a b b-a alb c {b-a)/c
2001 2,191,322 2,315,191 123,869 946% 1,431,783 8.7%
2003 2,302,164 2,878,254 576,080 80.0% 1,629,357 35.4%
2005 2977214 3,986,028 1,008,814 74.7% 1,740,803 58.0%
2007 3,907,249 4,426 551 519,302 88.3% 1,592,265 32.6%

Source: Township Police and Non-Uniform Employee Retirement Plan Actuarial Valuation Reports.



TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD

PENSION PLAN FUNDING PROGRESS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS, continued

The comparability of trend information is affected by changes in actuarial assumptions, benefit
provisions, actuarial funding methods, accounting policies and other changes. Those changes
usually affect trends in contribution requirements and in ratios that use the actuarial accrued
liability as a factor.

Analysis of the dollar amount of the actuarial value of assets, actuarial accrued liability and
unfunded (assets in excess of) actuarial accrued liability in isolation can be misleading.
Expressing the actuarial value of assets as a percentage of the actuarial accrued liability (column
4) provides one indication of the plan’s funding status on a going-concern basis. Analysis of this
percentage, over time, indicates whether the system is becoming financially stronger or weaker.
Generally, the greater this percentage, the stronger the plan.

Trends in unfunded (assets in excess of) actuarial accrued liability and annual covered payroll
are both affected by inflation. Expressing the unfunded (assets in excess of) actuarial accrued
liability as a percentage of annual covered payroll (column 6) approximately adjusts for the ;
effects of inflation and aids analysis of the plan’s progress made in accumulating sufficient assets
to pay benefits when due. Generally, where there is an unfunded actuarial accrued liability, the
smaller this percentage, the stronger the plan. However, when assets are in excess of the actuarial
accrued liability, the higher the bracketed percentage, the stronger the plan.



SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



79
SJUDUIRILIS [eIOUBUL) 21SBq 2y 01 setou Surkueduwosoe sag

OTSILI'T  §  P6EOT $  69LPET § RISYHT 0§ 86188 0§ BI19IEE & LS8 § €90°€0T § <nSepE § zosor §  hTT9) % SHONVTVE (NN
ANV SELLITIEVIT TVIOL
786°L83°1 ¥6£°07 BPEIT $67°91 780°LLS £eg1ee LES°C8 0TS 0147262 crIee (916°8) SHONVIVE AN TVIOL
786°L88T +6£0T 8FCIT $67°91 T80°LLS [T LESS] T0TsT 01+'26¢ crIee (916°%) spuny sutzadl eroadg
vmo.w paAkasaIUy
STONVTVE ANNA
PeTCsT L8TIT €T 706t $97 198°LL1 €68°9¢ 6IF' 11 7697 SALLITIEVIT TVIOL
00t°1 00t°1 syisodap Jequsjy
05€°e8l 198°LLI 68F°c sejqeded punpisiug
996°¢¢ 706y £90°1¢ sasuadxs panooy
878°T9 4 ¢ (8TIT 0§ £T89 & ¢ $ <97 g £ § TPEoT 0§ 6IPIL § 16T 8 sjqeded sjunosoy
STILITEVIT
9TSILITT §  P6E0T § 69LPET § BISHT §  v86°188 §  QIOIEE §  LESS8 0§ €90°€0T §  s0€6KE §  T9S9r § (i) § SLASSY TVIOL
6LFTLY 8¢ 0TL62 [£9°6€ 198°LLL €SHPTT 91¥ SO[qEAIDORL pUIISiU]
987°1¢ g 801 $09°¢ LT £€9¢ Lot 0LS'ST 617 3[qEAIROAL SUNOOY
19450991 §  ZE6'6T §  69LPET § OIPPT 0§ 9C98¥E §  0TL06T §  FLICS §  S60'CT § TRTG6 § LGSy § wTT9) ¢ swuaqeambo yseo pue yse)
SIASSY
mmumsm @CD% ﬂssnm m;:mnm ﬁﬂsm n:ﬁ& ﬁasm @mﬂm w:n“ @Eﬂm mumshm @sxnm
EE@E&@SQ@ @sn.mux mﬂvmm mvoe\»—? meQEM mumam \QEQMQ ﬁ@ﬁmwaumﬁ EOSQEQ@M HE&U\ME uammq gow.sm
w@ﬂw@ @oﬂm_zﬂgf ESE\H wmz mﬁm QE,H@(NH «BQQ ﬁEm xumm @Ew u?@m
[e10,

LOOT ‘L€ YAFWADTA
SANNA TV INGWNAFAOD YFHLO
LHFHS HONVTVE ONINIEIWOD
ATIAVIN HEMOT 40 JEHSNAOL



§9
SIUBLURIEIS [RIOURLY OISEq 5Y) 01 Sajou Burkuediuosse sog

786°L88'1 § 6T §  T8PEIT § 6Tl §  TBOLL8 §  CSEIEE  § LESS8  §  g0ISc §  O0lbeer & Skise §  (916%%) $ ONIANA “SHONVTVE NN

615 PES'T $T6°v1 90¥°06 cLo'sy 80<+8¢ 1Sy SLEBL PSr's §96'¢8T 9TI'se (66L°C) DNINNIDAE ‘SHONVIVE ANNA
coreee 69%°¢ 9LO%CTL (0zL°8D) PLET6T (881°¢8) 791%9 8rL91 Thr'e L1 {Lire SHONVIVE ANNAL NI
(FSYIADFQ) ASVTHONI LAN
(€6€°L9T) €LT 6ro'TD (L16°scT) (SASN) SHIUNOS
DNIONVNIL JIHLO TVLOL
vzT'oLT) (99870 (09€°LET) (o) ssaysuen Sunerado
€e8°7 €Ll L1g P8l sagipuadxa teak Joud Jo punjay
pansst puogr
(SIS SHOUNOS
ONIONVNLL ¥43HLO
9¢8°009 69t'¢ 9LOETI (£63°87) PLETOT (BEI°TL) 919 §rL9] 6£6°197 Ll Lire STANLIANTIXE CIEANND)
HIAQ SHNANFATY 4O SSHOXT
1Z€°09L°T 0S9ZI 91588 £89°1¢ T06'1 180°101 6LI°9TL 9¢o°crL PLYEE STALLIANTIXE TVLOL
15a130U]
fedrourrg
BDIAIIS 199(T
0£9°9¢61 88L799 T6S°L1 05T°TL Aepno peide)
£89°1¢ £89°1¢ justidojoasp Apunumio)y
1£8°8¢9 06 6T6°CF9 UONB3I33L PUB SYIRJ
LTLLL qTLLIS 631°C8 9€9°cr1 rLeEe SHI0M ATgnd
059771 05941 £1a]es s1qng
SHUNLIANIIXT
LLET19ET 6E10€L T6E°LOL 06L°TC 9LF'L6T TH6'6T 791°9 8PL91 9€1°8L6 £69°Crl LELRT SHANIATI TVIOL
1Lris £Sr'ze SIL'9T SUIODU! SNOSURJJAISIA]
184682 TST68T 986°6 091 SUCTINGLIUG)
SHO'LEL 7691 £66°ccl SI0IALS 0] $a8myD
TLRCH9 €LO06Y 001 6LT SPGC SNUSARS [BIUSURLIZA0SINU]
€0$°TE 00891 COL¢I SU0OUF [R1UaY
S6TTLL 861°C LISLT 8617 vT0°8¢ 9¢6°61 0Lv'y S04 0$L°1¢ 86b°'c 6¢ sBurums 15a01uf
8079101 $ 6Tl § $ $ $ $ $ $TeLLL 8 ssrorE $ axE] 218158 (U]
SANNIATY
Spun.{ puriy putt{ pung pun,{ pun. pun.g putg 114 pun.g pun, pun,
[RIUAULISACY b (T 3 spang SPOOAL pedug aoedg Areiqr UOHESIY] ORI WeIpAR] W87 19008
bcliily) 2oUB[NGUEY pmbr SN 2AL] aLJeIL wadp pue e pue yred
[e10L

LOOT “1€ YHIWHDAT QIANT ¥VAA FHL Y04

SANE TVININNAIAOD YIHLO
SHONVIVE AN NI SHONVHD ANV STANLIANTIXT ‘SINNTATY O LNIWZLV.LS DNINIFNOD
ATHATMVIN SIMOT A0 JTHSNAAOL



STANLEY N. BOOZ. 11C

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOQUNTANTS

252 WEST SWAMP ROAD, SUITE 39, DOYLESTOWN, PA 18201 » 2185-B45-8685] ¢ WWW.SNBCO.COM

MEMBER OF AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF CPA’S aND PENNSYLVANIA INSTITUTE OF CPA'S

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of
Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with

Government Auditing Standards

To the Board of Supervisors
TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD
Yardley, Pennsylvania

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the TOWNSHIP OF LOWER MAKEFIELD as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2007, which collectively comprise the TOWNSHIP OF LOWER
MAKEFIELD’s financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated June 23, 2008. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptrolier General of the United States.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Township’s internal control over
financial reporting as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing
our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Township’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do
not express anopinion on the effectiveness of the Township’s internal control over financial
reporting.

A conirol deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a control
deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that adversely affects the Township’s ability
to initiate, authorize, record, process, or report financial data reliably in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles such that there is more than a remote likelihood that a
misstatement of the entity’s financial statements that is more than inconsequential will not be
prevented or detected by the entity’s internal conirol.
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A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that
results in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the financial statements
will not be prevented or detected by the entity’s internal control.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose
described in the first paragraph of this section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies
in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. We did not

identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be
material weaknesses, as defined above.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Township’s financial statements
are free of material misstatements, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions
of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a
direct and material effect on the determination of financial statements amounts. However,
providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and,
accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances

of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing
Standards.

We noted certain other matters that we reported to the management of the TOWNSHIP OF
LOWER MAKEFIELD in a separate letter dated June 23, 2008.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Township management, others
within the entity, and federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities and is not intended to
be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

STANLEY N. BOOZ, LLC
Certified Public Accountants

%:\?M &? L
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